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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

KURIAN DAVID, SONY VASUDEVAN
SULEKHA, PALANYANDI THANGAMANI,
MURUGANANTHAM KANDHASAMY,
HEMANT KHUTTAN, PADAVEETTIYIL
ISAAC ANDREWS, KECHURU
DHANANJAYA, SABULAL VIJAYAN,
KRISHAN KUMAR, JACOB JOSEPH
KADAKKARAPPALLY, KULDEEP SINGH,
and THANASEKAR CHELLAPPAN,
individually and for FLSA claims, on behalf of
similarly-situated individuals

Plaintiffs,
-against-

SIGNAL INTERNATIONAL, LLC, SIGNAL
INTERNATIONAL, INC., SIGNAL
INTERNATIONAL TEXAS GP, LLC,
SIGNAL INTERNATIONAL TEXAS, L.P.,
MALVERN C. BURNETT, GULF COAST
IMMIGRATION LAW CENTER, L.L.C.,
LAW OFFICES OF MALVERN C.
BURNETT, A.P.C., INDO-AMERI SOFT
L.L.C., KURELLA RAO,J &M
ASSOCIATES, INC. OF MISSISSIPPI,
BILLY R. WILKS, J & M MARINE &
INDUSTRIAL, LLC, GLOBAL RESOURCES,
INC., MICHAEL POL, SACHIN DEWAN,
and DEWAN CONSULSTANTS PVT. LTD
(a’k/a MEDTECH CONSULTANTS).

Defendants.

CIVIL ACTION

No. 08-1220-SM-DEK

SECTION E
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Related Case:

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
COMMISSION

Plaintiffs,
and
SABULAL VIJAYAN, etal.
Plaintiffs-
Intervenors

-against-

SIGNAL INTERNATIONAL, LLC,
Defendant.

Related Case:

LAKSHMANAN PONNAYAN ACHARI, etal.
Plaintiffs,

-against-

SIGNAL INTERNATIONAL, LLC, etal,
efendants

Applies To: David, No. 08-1220

CIVIL ACTION
No. 12-557-SM-DEK

SECTION E

CIVIL ACTION

No. 13-6218-SM-DEK

(c/w 13-6219, 13-6220, 13-6221, 14-
472)

SECTION E

SIXTH AMENDED COMPLAINT

1. In the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, Plaintiffadasimilarly situated

workers, approximately 590 Indian men, were tr&#t into the United States through

the federal government’'s H-2B guestworker progranpitovide labor and services to

Defendants Signal International L.L.C., Signal intgional Texas GP, LLC and Signal

International Texas, L.P. (Refeference to “Signdlfoughout this Complaint includes

these three entities as well as their corporaterpgaignal International, Inc.). Recruited

to perform welding, pipefitting, and other marinabfication work, Plaintiffs were

2



subjected to forced labor and other serious abaté&ignal operations in Pascagoula,
Mississippi and Orange, Texas.

2. Plaintiffs bring this action to recover for damageficted by Defendants



they did not work for Signal under the auspicedeshporary, Signal-restricted H-2B
guestworker visas, they would suffer abuse or teresd abuse of the legal process,
physical restraint, and/or other serious harm.

5.



understand their legal rights. Signal similarlyeatpted to forcibly and unlawfully
deport Plaintiffs Kuldeep Singh, Thanasekar Cheléa and Krishan Kumar.

8. Terrified by the threat of imminent deportation,e tlsecurity guards
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Sabulal Vijayan, Jacob Joseph Kadakkarappally, &pdSingh, Krishan Kumar, and
Thanasekar Chellappan also bring individual cldi@ased on violations of, and attempted
violations of, the Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871 (42 UG § 1985), false imprisonment,
assault, battery, intentional infliction of emotadrdistress and/or negligent infliction of
emotional distress.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuep 28 U.S.C. § 1331
(federal question jurisdiction), 18 U.S.C. § 1595(aivil trafficking), 18 U.S.C. §
1964(c) (RICO), 28 U.S.C. § 1343 (civil rights)da29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (FLSA).

12.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over RIHgsi causes of action
based on the laws of U.S. states and foreign sfatesiant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), as
these claims arise out of the same nucleus of feloish support the federal claims.

13.  Venue in the Eastern District of Louisiana is propader 18 U.S.C. 8
1965 and 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1391 in that various Deferedamid/or agents of Defendants,
including Malvern C. Burnett, the Law Offices of Marn C. Burnett, A.P.C., Gulf Coast
Immigration Law Center L.L.C., Kurella Rao, and trAmerisoft, L.L.C., resided and/or
may be found in New Orleans during the relevanetpariods.

PARTIES

Plaintiffs
14. Plaintiffs are Indian nationals and former H-2B gworkers who were
recruited from India and/or the United Arab Emisatey Defendants at various times
between 2003 and 2007.

15. Plaintiffs are of South Asian Indian descent ara@ladian nationals.



16. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs were “persons”tiin the meaning of that
term as defined by RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3).

17. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs were employed $ignal as defined by the
FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(g).

18. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs were engaged mterstate commerce
and/or in the production of goods for sale in istete commerce.

19.  Plaintiff Kechuru Dhananjaya was recruited in 2®@3n the United Arab
Emirates and India for work in the United Statédter arriving in the United States in
2007, Dhananjaya worked at Signal’s Orange, Texait}.

20.  Plaintiff Andrews Issac Padavettiyil was recruite®004 from the United



25. Plaintiff Hemant Khuttan was recruited in 2006 frémdia for work in the

United States. After arriving in the United States
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Defendants
The Employer Defendant

31. Defendants Signal International, L.L.C., Signalehn@ational Texas GP,
LLC, and Signal International Texas, L.P. are coap®entities organized under the laws
of Delaware, whose global parent, Signal Intermetipinc., is organized under the laws
of Delaware and provides marine and fabricationises in the Gulf Coast region, with
operations in Orange, Texas; Pascagoula, Mississippd Mobile, Alabama
(collectively, these four entities are referred @s “Signal”). At all relevant times,
Signal’'s decision-making headquarters was locatdRbascagoula, Mississippi.

Recruiter Defendants

32. Defendant Global Resources, Inc. (“Global”) is oaswa corporation
organized under the laws of Mississippi and engaigedhe business of recruiting
workers from India for employment in the United8&" At all relevant times, Global
Resources conducted the recruiting in question faroffice located in Mississippi.

33. Defendant Dewan Consultants Pvt. Ltd. (a/k/a Mddt&onsultants)
(“Dewan Consultants”) is a private limited liabficompany organized under the laws of
India, which maintains offices in Mumbai (Bombayydia, and Dubai, United Arab
Emirates.

34. Dewan Consultants’ decision making headquartelscgted in Mumbai,

India.

! Claims against Michael Pol, the President of ReariDefendant Global Resources,
have been stayed pending the outcome of his battyrypoceedings. Plaintiffs will
seek leave to amend the Sixth Amended Complaantdfwhen the stay is lifted.



35. Defendant Sachin Dewan (“Dewan”) is the Director 8&fewan
Consultants. Dewan resides in India and is aesitiaf India.

36.  Upon information and belief, Defendants Dewan amdv@n Consultants
have authorized and utilized Defendant Global dmel itegal Facilitator Defendants
described below, to act as their United Statesebaperations and/or agents.

37.  Upon information and belief, Defendants Global émel Legal Facilitator
Defendants described below, have authorized afidagtiDefendants Dewan and Dewan
Consultants to act as their India and United ArabirBtes based operations and/or
agents.

38. Upon information and belief, Defendants Dewan, DeWansultants, and
Global, and the Legal Facilitator Defendants déscdibelow, acted as a joint venture
with respect to the recruitment, contracting, amdvision of Plaintiffs for labor or
services except for with regard to recruitment bgfdddants Indo-Amerisoft and Rao

prior to mid-2006. Prior to approximately mid-2006
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described below, to conduct and effectuate thareshbusiness interests and activities in
the United States.

41].

11
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47.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Burnett, GC| and the Burnett
Law Offices have the same business objectives afdridant Burnett uses GCILC and
the Burnett Law Offices to conduct and effectudi@red business objectives.

48. Throughout this Complaint, Plaintiffs refer to Deflants Burnett,
GCILC, and Burnett Law Offices collectively as “lad-acilitator Defendants.”

49. The Legal Facilitator Defendants engaged in a jomenture with
Defendants Kurella Rao and Indo-Ameri Soft, L.L.@escribed below, to conduct and
carry out their shared business interests and iteesivin India and the United Arab
Emirates. This joint venture is in addition to floent venture described above between
the Legal Facilitator Defendants and the Recriiefiendants.

50. The Legal Facilitator Defendants conducted thesitess almost entirely
in United States dollars. Nearly every payment enadthe Legal Facilitator Defendants
described herein was by cashier's check drawn atedrstates banks and deposited in
United States bank accounts.

Labor Broker Defendants

51. Defendant Indo-Amerisoft, L.L.C., (“Indo-Amerisoff’ a corporation
organized under the laws of Louisiana and headergttin New Orleans, Louisiana, at
all relevant times was engaged in the businessartiiting and providing Indian laborers
to United States companies and selling opportumite United States immigration and

employment to such laborers.

2 Plaintiffs’ claims against Indo-Amerisoft are stdy@ending the outcome of its
bankruptcy proceedings. Plaintiffs will seek tague those claims if and when the stay
is lifted. Therefore, all factual assertions mddeein regarding Indo-Amerisoft are
included only in support of allegations againsté&efants other than Indo-Amerisoft.
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52. At all relevant times, Defendant Kurella Rao (“Rgoivas the Chairman
and Director of Indo-Amerisoft, L.L.C., and maimtad offices in the New Orleans,
Louisiana metropolitan area. Rao has or had,atalevant times, business contacts in
the New Orleans, Louisiana area.

53. Defendants Indo-Amerisoft and Rao conducted theisiress almost
entirely in United States dollars. Nearly everympant made to Defendants Indo-

Amerisoft and Rao described herein was by cashier’s

13



56. Wilks is the founder of J & M. He incorporatedint 1996. The main
corporate office of J & M is Wilks’s home. J & Miuring the time relevant to this
litigation, was entirely beholden to Wilks for ikisiness activity. Further, Wilks has
testified that, during the time relevant to thisghtion, all of J & M’s decisions and
policy changes would have to be approved by hire.wds the main decision-maker with
regard to all of the company’s relevant business/iac Both Wilks and his former
lawyer describe Wilks as the only person who knangthing about the company and
that it is indeed his company, even though Willaisalso participated substantially in
the conduct of the company.

57. At some point prior to 2007, J & M was sued in Ueed litigation. In
response to that lawsuit, Wilks set up a new catpam domiciled and incorporated in

Mississippi —J & M Marine & Industrial LLC (*J & M

14
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64. Once Wilks created J & M Marine, he simply shifted employee, Nicole
Homel-Tellier, from J & M over to J & M Marine. Ase had done with J & M, he listed
himself as the registered agent and his home agldiethe company’s principal address
with the Mississippi Secretary of State.

65. Both J & M and J & M Marine clearly share the sami#ials, which
reference the same individuals: John and MichadtaVi

66.

16
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69.  Throughout this Complaint, Plaintiffs refer to Defiants Indo-Amerisoft,

Rao, J & M, Wilks and J & M Marine collectively dsabor Broker Defendants.”
All Defendants

70. At all relevant times, Defendants Dewan, Dewan Qtiasts, Global,
Burnett, Burnett Law Offices and GCILC acted asragef Defendants Signal, J & M,
Indo-Amerisoft and/or Rao for the purposes of rdorg, obtaining, contracting,
transportation and/or providing Plaintiffs for labmr services (except that Global did not
recruit for Indo-Amerisoft or Rao).

71. Individually and through their agents, associateiorneys, and/or
employees, all Defendants have contacts with NeleaDs, Louisiana.

72. At all relevant times, Defendants were “personsthu that term as
defined by RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3).

73.  Upon information and belief, Defendants have beegaged in contacts
with Plaintiffs, including recruiting, obtainingalbor contracting, providing immigration-
related services to, transporting, harboring, ghog and/or employing Plaintiffs.

74.  Atall relevant times, Defendants operated entsggrengaged in interstate
commerce or in the production of goods for intdestmmmerce.

75. At all relevant times, Defendant Signal employedimlffs for the
purposes of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203.

FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

76.  All claims set forth in the Seventh Claim for Rélare brought against
Defendant Signal by the Plaintiffs on behalf ofrtiselves and all other similarly situated

persons pursuant to the collective action provsioih29 U.S.C. § 216(b) of the FLSA.

17



77.  Plaintiffs seek to represent a FLSA class congsthall Indian H-2B
workers employed by Defendant Signal at its Orafigeas and Pascagoula, Mississippi
facilities at any time from October 1, 2006 to Jayu2009.

78.  The proposed FLSA class members are similarly tusn that they have
been subject to uniform practices by Defendant &igmhich violated the FLSA,
including:

a. Signal’'s systematic unlawful payroll deductions foom
and board and work-related tools;

b. Signal's workforce-wide failure to pay class mensber
overtime wages based on one-and-one-half times tbgular rate of pay
during workweeks when Signal credited class memletls a “safety
bonus.”

C. Signal's workforce-wide failure to reimburse class

18



marine fabrication workers on behalf of various U.S

19
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88. In these communications occurring during the fiaif of 2004, Recruiter
Defendants and Legal Facilitator Defendants furthglained to Plaintiffs Padavettiyil
and Kadakkarappally that the installment paymeraslav be divided among Recruiter
Defendants and Legal Facilitator Defendants.

89. In these communications occurring during the fitalf of 2004,
Defendants Dewan Consultants, Dewan, Legal FacititBefendants, and Defendants
Rao and Indo-Amerisoft further explained to PldiastVijayan and Dhananjaya that the
installment payments would be divided among Defatsl®ewan, Dewan Consultants,
Rao, and Indo-Amerisoft.

90. In telephone communications, in-person meetingsieda written
agreements, and/or other written communicatioremsmitted, upon information and
belief, by mail and/or wire in the first half of @9, Recruiter Defendants, Legal
Facilitator Defendants, and/or Defendants Rao amlb-IAmerisoft instructed Group |
Plaintiffs that the total fees to work for the Laligroker Defendants would be paid in a
series of approximately three installments.

91. In these conversations in the first half of 2004,

21
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2004, further promised that Group | Plaintiffs wabydromptly receive a refund of all or
nearly all of their payments if these Defendants bt succeed in securing green cards
for Group | Plaintiffs as promised.

97. Legal Facilitator Defendants, Recruiter Defendamisg Labor Broker
Defendants knew or should have known that theyaarttieir agents would not refund
Group | Plaintiffs’ money as promised in writterregments and other documents.

98. Legal Facilitator Defendants, Recruiter Defendaatsl Labor Broker
Defendants personally and/or through their agemgresentatives, and/or employees,
induced the Group | Plaintiffs to enter into theen card agreements without intent to
diligently pursue Group | Plaintiffs’ green cardpéipations; knowingly representing
without any basis whatsoever, inter alia, that ¢benpanies and/or entities purportedly
sponsoring Group | Plaintiffs’ applications weradncially solvent and had reliable and
stable employment opportunities to provide GroupPlhintiffs; that green card
applications sponsored by such companies would ahel and bona fide under U.S.
immigration law; and that such applications wekelly to be successfully completed and
approved within the promised timelines.

99. In reasonable reliance on Legal Facilitator Defersla Recruiter
Defendants and Labor Broker Defendants’ explicitd arepeated promises made
personally and/or through their agents, represeettand/or employees regarding green
cards, family members’ ability to immigrate to thénited States, and lawful and
legitimate employment opportunities in the Uniteht8s, Group | Plaintiffs undertook
considerable economic, social, familial and perb@a&rifices, including payment of
high fees, assumption of significant interest begrdebt, loss of real and personal

property, lost work opportunities, and/or lost apaid wages.

23



100. Group | Plaintiffs signed agreements with RecruiDmfendants, Legal
Facilitator Defendants, and/or Labor Broker Deferidaand made the first round of
installment payments required by these agreements.

101. After Group | Plaintiffs signed agreements with Riter Defendants,
Legal Facilitator Defendants, and/or Labor Brokeeféhdants and paid the first

installment payments required by the agreements, th

24



105. After this notification, Recruiter Defendants, Légacilitator Defendants
and Labor Broker Defendants personally and/or thinotheir agents, representatives,
and/or employees, used wire and/or mail commurminatito collect the second and/or
third installment payments from the Group | Pldfsti

106. By spring 2006, after the 18 to 24 month processing

25
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116. Defendant Signal and Legal Facilitator Defendaatsyr around the time
they filed the ETA 750 forms in May and June 200&peatedly communicated by
telephone, mail, e-mail, and/or fax to direct andrdinate recruitment of Indian workers
to fill the anticipated H-2B guestworker jobs. Wpaformation and belief, Signal and/or
Legal Facilitator Defendants repeatedly commundateth Recruiter Defendants by
telephone, mail, e-mail, and/or fax to direct andrdinate recruitment of Indian workers
to fill the anticipated H-2B guestworker jobs.

117. Upon information and belief, in the course of télepe, fax, e-mail and/or

mail communications occurring in or around May aemnd 2006, Defendant Signal

27



simultaneous green card applications would not deabfide and valid under United
States immigration law. Moreover, Defendant Signahorized its agents to make these
misrepresentations even though it did not haverttemtion at that time to apply for such
visa extensions and/or green cards on behalf affalie Indian H-2B workers, including
Plaintiffs.

121. In July and August of 2006, with specific dates and

28
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Recruitment of the Group |l Plaintiffs

134. Acting as Defendant Signal's recruiting agent fdre tpurposes of
facilitating the recruitment of Indian workers femployment at Signal, the Recruiter
Defendants (Defendants Global Resources, Inc., Dé&wamsultants Pvt. Ltd., and Sachin

Dewan) placed advertisements in newspapers througho

31



138. Upon information and belief, Defendant Signal's edtion of and
coordination of Recruiter Defendants’ and Legal ilator Defendants’ recruitment
efforts was effectuated by the use of numerousphelee, fax, e-mail, and/or mail
communications occurring from spring of 2006 throadg least January 2007.

139. In these communications Defendant Signal authorizZ@dcruiter
Defendants and Legal Facilitator Defendants toaactheir agents for the purposes of
recruiting and providing Indian welders and fittéosfill anticipated H-2B guestworker
jobs at Signal operations.

140. In these communications, Defendant Signal furthgh@ized Recruiter
Defendants and Legal Facilitator Defendants tcefglsepresent that Signal would agree
to sponsor bona fide green card applications ferGhoup Il Plaintiffs and obtain at least
two H-2B visa extensions on behalf of Group Il Ridis to allow them to remain in the
United States working for Signal while their greeard applications were being
processed.

141.

32
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nonetheless continued to facilitate the transportato Signal worksites, of hundreds of
more Indian H-2B workers, including Plaintiffs, la&se it was in Signal’s financial
interest to do so.

143. In spring, summer, and fall of 2006, Group |l Ptdfa attended meetings
at which Recruiter Defendants and Legal Facilitabmfendants, acting on Signal's
behalf, informed Group Il Plaintiffs of the oppanity to work for Defendant Signal on
H-2B visas which would lead to permanent residgre€n card) status.

144. Upon information and belief, prior to attendinggthemeetings and testing
sessions, Defendant Signal, Recruiter Defendamtd, laegal Facilitator Defendants
conferred in spring, summer, and fall 2006 by phonail, fax and/or e-mail to organize,
plan, and coordinate the logistics and substamiivegent of these meetings.

145. Recruiter Defendants and Legal Facilitator Defetslanaveled across
state and international lines to attend meetingh Wiroup Il Plaintiffs in India and the
United Arab Emirates in spring, summer, and fal2006.

146. According to the statements made at these meetiagd in
communications effected by wire and mail duringstime period, Defendant Signal
would sponsor Group Il Plaintiffs’ green card apations and extend their H-2B visas
multiple times to enable Group Il Plaintiffs to wan the United States while their green
card applications were pending. In exchange, Gtb&aintiffs would have to pay fees
totaling as much as 11.5 lakh rupees ($25,000) eaehseries of approximately three
installments.

147. Group Il Plaintiffs were further informed by Reder Defendants and/or

Legal Facilitator Defendants that in exchange foraalditional fee of approximately

33



$1,500 per family member, Plaintiffs would be atdeobtain legal permanent residence

for their spouses and children.

34






sacrifices, including the mortgaging and/or salgefsonal property and incurrence of
debt, in order to amass the funds necessary t@taithe green card process with
Defendant Signal.

157. In reasonable reliance on the promises of RecrDiedendants and Legal

Facilitator Defendants, Group Il Plaintiffs signesgritten agreements with these

36



163.

37



170. The United States Citizenship and Immigration Servi

38



Plaintiffs already were in the United States, ifait Defendants’ representations to the
contrary were false when made.

177. Around the time of USCIS’s visa approval, Plaigtifiinade necessary
preparations in order to travel to the United Staite H-2B visas to work for Signal,
including: paying to obtain necessary travel arghlalocuments; making payments to
the United States consulate, Recruiter DefendamisL&gal Facilitator Defendants for
mandatory H-2B visa and consular processing faésn@ing H-2B visa interviews; and
paying Recruiter Defendants for travel arrangements

178. In order to secure H-2B visas to work for Signd§iiiffs were required
to be interviewed by United States Consular officelmdian cities.

179. These consular interviews necessitated that Pfiginpay the costs of
travel from their homes and/or current places opleyment to various large Indian
cities including Chennai (Madras) and Mumbai (Bogjba

180. Recruiter Defendants and/or Legal Facilitator Ddberts, acting as
Defendant Signal's agents, required that Plaintifeet with Recruiter Defendants and/or
the Legal Facilitator Defendants in these Indiamesiprior to attending their consular
interviews.

181. Upon information and belief, prior to these meesiiecruiter Defendants
and Legal Facilitator Defendants discussed amotigainselves and with Defendant
Signal by e-mail, telephone, or in-person commuiooa the topics to be discussed and
instructions to be given to Plaintiffs at these times.

182.
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183. Defendants further required that Plaintiffs pay additional 35,000 to
45,000 rupees ($800 to $1,100) fee for H-2B vis@ssing.

184. Recruiter Defendants and/or Legal Facilitator Ddfarts required
Plaintiffs to sign documents permitting Defendaacldn Dewan to receive their visa-
stamped passports from the Consulate on Plainb#kalves.

185. Recruiter Defendants and/or Legal Facilitator Dd#arts also coached the

40



192. At these meetings, Recruiter Defendants collectedl finstallment

41
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212. Privacy was non-existent, and Plaintiffs often eigeed extreme
difficulty sleeping due to the constant noise raésglfrom the close quarters and the

comings and goings of workers who worked on differe

44
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217. When Plaintiffs complained and asked to live owdside labor camps,
Defendant Signal initially refused. Subsequentign8l told workers that if they tried to
live outside the camps Signal would still deduat thbor camp fees from Plaintiffs’
wages. As a result, Plaintiffs reasonably feltt ttteey had no choice but to continue
living in the Signal camps.

218. Defendant Signal only housed Indian H-2B workershsas Plaintiffs in
its labor camps, which non-Indian employees andagament at Signal referred to as the
“reservation(s)”. Upon information and belief, Wwers of non-Indian descent were
neither required nor allowed to live in and/or pay accommodations in Defendant
Signal’'s labor camps.

219. Defendant Signal subjected Plaintiffs to skillstites and re-testing, on-
the-job discipline, layoffs, periods without wotlack of safety precautions, unfavorable
job assignments, evaluation processes, and othersal employment actions to which
non-Indian and U.S. citizen workers were not sinylaubjected.

220. In addition, Signal camp personnel and supervidoesjuently used
offensive language in speaking with and/or refgrion Plaintiffs and other Indian H-2B
workers and regularly insulted Plaintiffs and othedtian H-2B workers on the basis of
their race, national origin, and/or alienage.

221. During the first week of employing Plaintiffs anthers similarly situated
in the United States, Defendant Signal did not beirse Plaintiffs and others similarly
situated for any of the expenses that Plaintifi$ athers similarly situated were required
to incur as a pre-condition of seeking employmeiti Bignal.

222. During the first two weeks of employing Plaintifésxd others similarly

situated in the United States, Defendant Signaudied approximately $100 to $200
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230. At regular meetings and in one-on-one or small groonversations with
Signal camp personnel and management, some workehsding Plaintiffs Vijayan and
Kadakkarappally, voiced complaints regarding treciminatory and abusive treatment
to which Indian H-2B workers were subject.

231. Plaintiffs Vijayan and Kadakkarappally took leadimgles in voicing
others’ complaints to Defendant Signal’s persommebmp meetings.

232. When Indian workers, including Vijayan and Kadaldggrally, voiced
grievances regarding housing, food, and wages, fdafé Signal's personnel warned
them to stop complaining.

233. When Signal took no action in response to workeoshplaints, numerous
Indian H-2B workers living at the Pascagoula labamp, including Plaintiffs Vijayan
and Kadakkarappally, began meeting collectivelydigxuss how to persuade Signal to
improve conditions in its labor camps, includingetieg with third parties to discuss
how best to address their concerns.

234. Defendant Signal became aware of these meetingé, asi a meeting
between workers -- including Plaintiffs Vijayan akddakkarappally-- and third parties
whom Signal believed to be attorneys.

235. Defendant Signal, through its employees and/or tagerontacted the
Recruiter Defendants and Legal Facilitator Defemslan express its concerns about
worker organizing efforts and the specific invoheh of Plaintiffs Vijayan and
Kadakkarappally.

236. Upon information and belief, during these conveosest Recruiter
Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendants, and Sigeached an agreement regarding

steps that they would take to discourage furtherkemorganizing efforts and to ensure
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that the majority of the Indian H-2B workforce conted to work at Signal without
complaint, as well as to prevent the Indian H-2Brkfarce from exercising their legal
rights.

237. Upon information and belief, Signal management aathp personnel
conferred and planned internally and with the gav@wetman security firm to respond
to workers’ organizing activities and to take aestido ensure that the majority of the
Indian H-2B workforce continued to work at Signaithwut complaint, as well as to
prevent the Indian H-2B workforce from exercisihgit legal rights.

238. On or about March 7, 2007, Defendant Sachin Dewalled Plaintiff
Vijayan's wife at her home in India and warned Heat Plaintiff Vijayan must stop
making trouble at Signal.

239. Plaintiff Vijayan's wife informed Plaintiff Vijayanof this call, and
Vijayan called Defendant Dewan on or about MarcB@)7. During that conversation,
Defendant Dewan told Plaintiff Vijayan that Dewaadhearned from Defendant Signal
that Vijayan was organizing the workers and maklimyble. Defendant Dewan told
Plaintiff Vijayan that if the organizing continuedl| the workers would be sent back to
India.

240. Plaintiff Vijayan informed other Indian workers aliohis conversation
with Defendant Dewan and the call his wife had inese from Defendant Dewan, and
word spread quickly through the Pascagoula and geraxamps regarding the threats
against Vijayan.

241. News about the calls between Defendant Dewan, t#faifijayan, and
Vijayan’s wife substantially heightened the readweafears of Plaintiffs in the

Pascagoula and Orange camps that if they complaabedit or tried to leave the
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discriminatory and substandard working and livirgnditions at Signal, the Recruiter
Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendants, and Sigioauld retaliate against Plaintiffs or
their families with acts of violence or by arrangjifor Plaintiffs’ deportation to India.
242. Defendant Signal called a workforce-wide meetingoorabout March 8,
2007 in the Pascagoula camp, attended by Signageament and Defendant Burnett.
243. At this meeting, Signal management told Plaintifiad other H-2B
workers that Signal would fight back against orgarg efforts by the workers.
244. Signal management further threatened that Signalldvanot extend

Plaintiffs’ and all other Indian H-2B workers’ visaf any of the workers took legal
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248.
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261. When Plaintiff Kadakkarappally, Kumar, and Chellapjs co-workers
attempted to come into the TV room to talk to theeé¢ workers kept inside, the security
guards pushed them back.

262. Confused and frightened, workers assembled outgideTV room to
protest the treatment of Plaintiffs Kadakkarappaflymar, and Chellappan.

263. At around 10 AM, Signal camp personnel finally perm
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in the Pascagoula and Orange camps that if they to leave Signal’s employ or oppose
unlawful and coercive employment conditions at 8igmcluding by consulting with

counsel, they faced the threat of physical restrdetention, forced deportation, or other
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279. In meetings and conversations in spring and sunm2€7, Defendant

Signal, through its agents and employees at theagasla and Orange facilities,
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refused to refund any of the moneys Plaintiffs ptidthem and/or their agents for
unsuccessful green card and visa processing.

285. Defendants received advantage under their agreemvéht Plaintiffs.
Specifically, Defendants reaped significant prdfiitesn recruitment fees Plaintiffs paid to
the Defendants.

286. Defendant Signal received advantage under thegeagent with Plaintiffs
through payments Plaintiffs made for housing imn&idabor camps.

287. Defendant Signal received advantage under the@geagent with Plaintiffs
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

THE TRAFFICKING VICTIMS PROTECTION ACT OF 2003
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294. Defendant Signal, Recruiter Defendants, and Legalliiator Defendants

knowingly attempted to and did obtain the labor a®ivices of Plaintiffs using a

58



Case 2:08-cv-01220-SM-DEK Document 1706 Filed 08/05/14 Page 59 of 129

Plaintiffs for labor or services in furtherance thiese Defendants’ violations of the
following provisions of Title 18, Chapter 77 of theS. Code:

a. enticing, persuading, or inducing the Plaintiffsgm on board an
airliner and to go to various locations throughing United Arab Emirates, India,
and the United States, with the intent that they @ made or held in modern-
day slavery, violating 18 U.S.C. § 1583;

b. knowingly and willfully holding Plaintiffs to invalntary servitude,
as defined by the TVPA, 22 U.S.C. § 7102(5)(a) @) violating 18 U.S.C. §
1584,

C. removing, confiscating, or possessing Plaintiffgisgports and
other immigration documents in the course of, othwhe intent to violate 18
U.S.C. 88 1583, 1584, 1589, and 1590, violatingJ18.C. § 1592(a); and

d. attempting to violate 18 U.S.C. 88 1583, 1584, 158%d 1590,
thereby violating 18 U.S.C. § 1594(a).

299. As a proximate result of the conduct of Defendaign&, Recruiter
Defendants, and Legal Facilitator Defendants, Bftsrhave suffered emotional injuries,
injuries to their businesses and property, andrathemages.

300. Under the TVPA, Plaintiffs are entitled to recovampensatory and
punitive damages in an amount to be proven at tneluding but not limited to:

a. compensation at the prevailing wage rate and glieable overtime
wages for the work done while at Signal;

b. damages for emotional pain and suffering, includingnot limited to
fright, nervousness, grief, anxiety, depressionrywanortification, shock,

humiliation, indignity, embarrassment, panic, aperesion, terror, or
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ordeal experienced during the recruitment proces® the point at which

each Plaintiffs’ employment at Signal was termidate
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interstate commerce and frequently require tramel @mmunications across state and
international lines.

314. The members of RICO Enterprise | function as aiooitg unit.

315. Defendants conducted or participated in, and/orspwad to conduct or
participate in the affairs of RICO Enterprise Idhgh a pattern of numerous acts of
racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. §62(c) and 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), related
by their common goal to recruit, obtain, transpprgcess, and provide workers through
the use of fraudulent promises, exorbitant feaggei labor, and/or trafficking in persons.

316. Specifically, Recruiter Defendants, Legal FacibtatDefendants, and
Defendant Signal conducted or participated in andémspired to conduct the affairs of
RICO Enterprise | by engaging in the following poede acts of racketeering activity
under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1):

a. Enticement into modern day slavery in violation 18 U.S.C.

§ 1583.

b. Involuntary servitude in violation of 18 U.S.C. §84.

C. Forced labor in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1589;

d. Trafficking in persons with respect to modern ddgvery,
involuntary servitude, and forced labor in violatiof 18 U.S.C § 1590; and

e. Unlawful document-related practices in furtheraotdrafficking

in violation of 18 U.S.C § 1592(a);

317. Specifically, all Defendants conducted or partitgaain and/or conspired
to conduct the affairs of RICO Enterprise | by egigg in the following predicate acts of

racketeering activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1):
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a. Mail fraud to further their unlawful scheme in \atibn of 18
U.S.C. § 1341,

b. Wire fraud to further their unlawful scheme in &abbn of 18
U.S.C. § 1343; and

C. Immigration document fraud in violation of 18 U.S&1546.

RICO Enterprise Il

318. RICO Enterprise Il is an ongoing business relatiqm®etween Recruiter
Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendants, and Dadienh Signal with the common
purpose of selling United States green cards, visad work opportunities to Indian
workers to convince such workers to pay fees anatcel to the United States to work
for companies, including Signal.

319. The members of RICO Enterprise Il operate as amaing unit.

320. RICO Enterprise Il is engaged in interstate commeancthat its activities
and transactions relating to the sale of UnitedteStagreen cards, visas, and job
opportunities affect interstate commerce.

321. Recruiter Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendaats] Defendant Signal
conducted or participated in and/or conspired tadoot or participate in, the affairs of

RICO Enterprise Il through a pattern of numerous ac
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engaging in the following predicate acts of rackate activity under 18 U.S.C. §
1961(1):
a. Enticement into modern day slavery in violation 18 U.S.C.
§ 1583.
b. Involuntary servitude in violation of 18 U.S.C. 884.
C. Forced labor in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1589;
d. Trafficking persons with respect to modern day aigy
involuntary servitude, and forced labor in violatiof 18 U.S.C § 1590;
e. Unlawful document-related practices in furtheraotdrafficking
in violation of 18 U.S.C § 1592(a);
f. Mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341;
g. Wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343; and
h. Immigration document fraud in violation of 18 U.S&1546.

RICO Enterprise lll

323. RICO Enterprise lll is an ongoing business relatop between the
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326.

Recv.
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Predicate Acts

Enticement into Slavery: 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1583

328. Recruiter Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendaat&l Defendant Signal,
through Enterprises |, I, and Il willfully, knowgly, and intentionally committed and/or
conspired to commit multiple predicate acts of @rtient into modern-day slavery in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1583, and as set forthPiaintiffs’ First Claim for Relief, {
298(a),_supra.

Involuntary Servitude: 18 U.S.C. 8 1584

329. Recruiter Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendaat&l Defendant Signal,
through Enterprises |, I, and Il willfully, knowgly, and intentionally committed and/or
conspired to commit multiple predicate acts of iowbary servitude in violation of 18
U.S.C. 81584, and as set forth in Plaintiffs’ Fitsaim for Relief,  298(b), supra.

Forced Labor: 18 U.S.C. § 1589

330. Recruiter Defendants, Legal Facilitator Defendaats] Defendant Signal
through RICO Enterprises |, Il, and Il willfullknowingly, and intentionally committed
and/or conspired to commit multiple predicate awtdorced labor in violation of 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1589, and as set forth in Plaintiffs’ £{tsaim for Relief, 1 292-296, supra.

Trafficking for the Purposes of Forced Labor and/or

Involuntary Servitude: 18 U.S.C. 8 1590

331. As set forth in the preceding paragraphs, Recruitefendants, Legal
Facilitator Defendants, and Defendant Signal thhoRICO Enterprises |, IlI, and 1l
willfully, knowingly, and intentionally committedral/or conspired to commit multiple

predicate acts of trafficking for the purposesatéd labor and/or involuntary servitude
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Enterprises I, Il, and lll, used the mails and wicemmunications, including
communications via telephone, fax, internet an@enail on numerous occasions to
further this fraudulent scheme.

337.

69



Pattern of Related Racketeering Acts

342.
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349. Defendants’ acts have or had similar methods ofmsion, such as
common recruitment tactics, relatively consisterdacfices with respect to collecting
payments from Plaintiffs and other Indian workeasd use of similar employment
practices and policies with respect to Plaintifisl @ther Indian workers.

Injury_

350. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’lfulil knowing, and
intentional acts discussed in this section, Plsktiave suffered injuries to their property
and/or business, including but not limited to: ditant fees paid by Plaintiffs for green
cards, visas and other immigration and recruitmmelatted services; interest on debts
assumed by Plaintiffs to pay such fees up to thmtpat which each Plaintiff's

employment at Signal was terminated; losses ofopatsand real property up to the point
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b. compensation of deductions taken from Plaintiffsayghecks by

Defendant Signal for room and board,
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358.
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b. compensation for money deducted from Plaintiffdasafor the
discriminatory room and board while at Signal;
C. compensatory damages for emotional pain and saffemcluding
fright, nervousness, grief, anxiety, depression;rywanortification, shock,
humiliation, indignity, embarrassment, panic, apgeresion, terror, or
ordeal experienced as a result of the deprivatiddlaintiffs’ civil rights,
up to the point at which each Plaintiff's employrmet Signal was
terminated;
d. punitive damages for Signal's malicious and reckles
discriminatory conduct;
e. attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs of thisoaclis set forth in
42 U.S.C. § 1988(b)-(c).

366. For this cause of action, no Plaintiff seeks daredgam any Defendants

relating to events that occurred after his emplaytmath Signal ended.
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATIONS OF THE KU KLUX KLAN ACT OF 1871
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to deprive Plaintiffs of their rights and/or actedfurtherance of a conspiracy to deprive
Plaintiffs of their rights.

371. Defendant Signal, Recruiter Defendants, and Legalliiator Defendants
knowingly, willfully, maliciously, intentionally, ad without justification planned and
acted to deprive Plaintiffs of their rights.

372. As a result of the unlawful acts of Defendant SignRecruiter
Defendants, and Legal Facilitator Defendants, Bftsrhave suffered damages.

373. Plaintiffs seek all appropriate relief in an amotmbe determined at trial,

including, but not limited to:

a. compensatory damages for deprivation of Plaintiffshstitutional
rights;
b. damages for emotional pain and suffering, includimgyht,

nervousness, grief, anxiety, depression, worry, tiffcation, shock,
humiliation, indignity, embarrassment, panic, apgeresion, terror, or
ordeal experienced during the recruitment processup to the point at
which each Plaintiff's employment at Signal wasirated,;

C. compensation for all moneys paid during the reoraitt process

and in order to come to the United States to worlSignal, including, but

76



d. compensation of deductions taken from Plaintiffayghecks by
Defendant Signal for room and board,

e. punitive damages; and

f. attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs as autltbbyet2 U.S.C. §
1988(b)-(c).

374. For this cause of action, no Plaintiff seeks daredgam any Defendants
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

INDIA FRAUD
All Plaintiffs Against All Defendant$

375. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by referenaeheand every allegation
contained in the preceding paragraphs.

376. Group | Plaintiffs Kadakkarappally and Padavettiyiing these claims
under the Indian Contract Act of 1872, including®8and 65, as well as common law,
equity, and case law regarding fraud (hereinaftedia fraud law”) against: Signal;
Recruiter Defendants (Global Resources, Sachin bearad Dewan Consultants); J & M
Associates, J & M Marine, and Wilks; and the Lelgatilitator Defendants (Malvern C.
Burnett, Law Offices of Malvern C. Burnett, and &Qbast Immigration Law Center).

377. Group | Plaintiffs Vijayan and Dhananjaya bringgbeclaims under India
fraud law against: Signal; Recruiter Defendantsof@l Resources, Sachin Dewan, and
Dewan Consultants); Indo-Amerisoft and Rao; and ltegal Facilitator Defendants
(Malvern C. Burnett, Law Offices of Malvern C. Beth, and Gulf Coast Immigration
Law Center).

378. Group Il Plaintiffs (Plaintiffs Thangamani, Davidandhasamy, Khuttan,
Chellappan, Singh, Kumar, and Sulekha) bring thelséms under India fraud law

against: Signal; Recruiter Defendants (Global Reses) Sachin Dewan, and Dewan

® Claims against Michael Pol, the President of RieariDefendant Global Resources,
have been stayed pending the outcome of his batdyrygroceedings. Further, claims
against Indo-Amerisoft and Rao also have been dt@gnding the outcome of their
bankruptcy proceedings. Plaintiffs will seek leatee amend the Sixth Amended
Complaint if and when these stays are lifted.

78



Consultants); and the Legal Facilitator DefenddMalvern C. Burnett, Law Offices of
Malvern C. Burnett, and Gulf Coast Immigration L@enter).
379. As set forth in the preceding paragraphs and iniliixh, Defendants,

individually and through their agents, employeexsi/ar representatives, engaged in acts
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386. Defendants engaged in these acts of deliberateptiecan order to take
unfair advantage of Plaintiffs and to gain fromifi#s’ loss.
387. Plaintiffs were ignorant of the Defendants’ intemdit to perform the
promises.
388. Plaintiffs did not have the means to discover théht with ordinary
diligence.
389. As set forth in the preceding paragraphs and iniliixh, Defendants
committed other acts intended to deceive Plaintiffs
390. Defendants intended that the false representataomd concealments
deliberately made by Defendants and/or their agamgployees, and/or representatives
would be acted upon in the manner Defendants reaspnontemplated:
a. that the false statements and concealments wouddahinduce
Plaintiffs to pay the exorbitant fees requestedthy Labor Brokers,
Recruiter Defendants, and/or Legal Facilitator Deemnts;
b. that the false statements and concealments wouddahinduce
Plaintiffs to leave their homes and, in many ins&m) jobs, in India and
the United Arab Emirates and travel to the Uniteates to work for the
Labor Brokers and/or Defendant Signal.
391. Defendants willfully or recklessly caused Plairgitb believe and act upon
Defendants’ deliberate deception.
392. Plaintiffs were entitled to and did rely on Defenti representations.
393. In reasonable reliance on Defendants’ false reptasens and

concealments regarding green cards and employnpgariinities, Plaintiffs paid large
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399.

paid on any loans incurred as a result of the reoant process up to the
point at which each Plaintiff’'s employment at Sigwas terminated;

b. refunds of recruitment fees, legal services feed, @her fees and
costs that Defendants promised to pay Plaintiff®efendants failed to
secure for Plaintiffs the promised visa extensimmd green cards;

C. compensation of deductions taken from Plaintiffayghecks by
Defendant Signal for room and board,

d. damages for emotional pain and suffering, includimgyht,
nervousness, grief, anxiety, depression, worry, tiffcation, shock,
humiliation, indignity, embarrassment, panic, apgeresion, terror, or
ordeal experienced during the recruitment proces® uhe point at which
each Plaintiffs employment at Signal was termidate

e. punitive damages; and

f. attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs.

For this cause of action, no Plaintiff seeks dammdgam any Defendants

relating to events that occurred after his emplaytmath Signal ended.
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